ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

NOV 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Berkeley County.  
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOSEPH UMPHLETT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-002121

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence seized during the execution of the search warrant for the hotel room that Appellant was staying in because the search warrant and resulting evidence was the fruit of the poisonous tree of law enforcements' prior unlawful, warrantless search of the hotel room not falling within any of the narrow exceptions to the warrant requirement.

### II.

Appellant's right against self-incrimination was violated by the introduction at trial of his statements to police.

- A. Appellant's first statement was the product of an interrogation by officers who had conducted an unlawful warrantless search of Appellant's hotel room and who failed to advise Appellant of his *Miranda*<sup>1</sup> rights prior to interrogating him.
- B. Appellant's later verbal and written statements to law enforcement were the product of police threats to arrest Appellant's girlfriend, Kory Abdon, if Appellant did not claim total responsibility for all of the drugs and both handguns found in a hotel room rented by Abdon.

---

<sup>1</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 426, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 7, 2014, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Joseph Umphlett for trafficking in methamphetamine, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. R. 604-609.

On September 28, 2015 through October 1, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. Grover "Beau" Seaton represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors Jessica Nickles and Wilton McNeely represented the State.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 580, l. 2 - 581, l. 15. The trial court sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 (1996). R. 584, l. 1 - 860, l. 8.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The exact sequence of events in this case is unclear as the testimony of the officers involved in Appellant's arrest repeatedly changed over the course of pre-trial hearings and trial.

### **Child Welfare Call and Initial Police Investigation**

At around 9:30 p.m. on May 11, 2014, Summerville Police Officers Hobie Williams, Denis Henderson, and Thomas Oswald were dispatched to the Economy Inn to conduct a child welfare check. R. 14, l. 21 - 16, l. 23. Dispatch notified them that 911 had received a call that two children were living with their mother, Cory Abdon, at the Economy Inn off Interstate 26 and that the mother's boyfriend, Appellant, did drugs with Abdon in the room's bathroom while the children were present. R. 123, l. 8 - 124, l. 13.

Upon arrival, the officers spoke with the hotel manager and learned that Abdon had rented a room at the hotel for several days. R. 45, l. 3 - 46, l. 21. The officers then located Appellant's car outside of the room and knocked on the door. R. 55, ll. 14-22. Through the front window of the hotel room, Appellant and Abdon informed the police that the children were staying with Abdon's mother. R. 373, l. 16 - 375, l. 4. Rather than attempting to contact Abdon's mother to confirm, the officers ordered Appellant and Abdon to open the door.

### Warrantless Search of Appellant's Hotel Room and Appellant's verbal statements

Once Appellant "cracked open" the door, Officer Williams claimed that he immediately noticed the "strong odor of raw marijuana emanating from the hotel room." R. 221, l. 8 - 222, l. 22. Williams asked for consent to search the room. Appellant and Abdon denied consent to a search, but opened the hotel room door so that the police could see that children were not present. R. 46, l. 3 - 47, l. 21. Despite not having consent, the police, led by Officer Williams "went ahead and conducted a quick sweep of the room to make sure there were no children." R. 224, ll. 9-25.

Contradicting Williams, Officer Henderson recalled that the officers were already in the apartment, presumably searching for Abdon's children, when he and Williams first smelled marijuana and belatedly asked for consent to search the room. R. 61, ll. 3-18. The purported "overwhelming smell" was caused by a **total of five grams of marijuana** located in two bags; one in the nightstand drawer with the other located in between the mattress and box spring of one of the hotel room beds. R. 126, ll. 1-18. No one was smoking marijuana.

The initial search of the hotel room uncovered neither children nor drugs. Despite the children still being unaccounted for, Officer Williams would recollect at trial "**from that point, the child welfare was okay. We weren't worried about that. We shifted into the fact that we were smelling marijuana.**" R. 224, l. 22 - 225, l. 11. Taking advantage of being in the hotel room, Williams began interrogating Appellant about the smell of marijuana and asked again for permission to search the room. R. 16, ll. 3-24; R. 231, l. 9 - 233, l. 10. Consent was denied.

During the pre-trial *Jackson v. Denno*<sup>2</sup> hearing, Williams seemed to admit that he *Mirandized* Appellant after first asking Appellant about the marijuana and for permission to search the hotel room.

Q. How much time elapsed between the time you requested to search the room, and he denied, to the time you *Mirandized* him?

A. Maybe a couple of minutes. . .

R. 16, ll. 9-23; *see also* R. 397, ll. 5-20. Further prompting by the solicitor helped Williams to change his mind and to recall that he had *Mirandized* Appellant first then asked about the marijuana and for permission to search the room. R. 16, l. 7 - 17, l. 25. Appellant and Abdon again denied consent, but according to Williams, Appellant admitted to having marijuana in the nightstand. *Id.*

---

<sup>2</sup> *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774 (1964).

In contrast with Williams' shifting, inconsistent accounts, Officer Henderson maintained that Appellant was *Mirandized* after Henderson called Detective Matthew Strickland for help in applying for a search warrant. R. 47, ll. 10-25. The warrant affidavit stated that Appellant denied consent to search the hotel room, but had told police that there was marijuana in a dresser. R. 116, l. 8 - 118, l. 23. Curiously, the affidavit did not mention that the police had already searched the hotel room and that no children were present. R. 122, l. 1 - 125, l. 13. Thus, according to Henderson, Appellant was interrogated first and later *Mirandized* only after telling the police about the marijuana in the nightstand.

Williams continued to interrogate Appellant for roughly an hour after *Miranda* warnings were finally administered. R. 23, ll. 3-9. Williams described Appellant as initially "very jittery, very nervous." R. 19, ll. 21-23. Towards the end of his interrogation, Appellant was described as remorseful and sad. R. 23, ll. 16-25.

#### Interrogation by Detective Thompson and Appellant's Written Statement

Detective Frank Thompson arrived at the Economy Inn several hours after Appellant's arrest. When Thompson arrived Appellant was handcuffed in the back seat of a police car. Thompson did not *Mirandize* Appellant, but instead relied on Williams' previous oral warnings, given several hours earlier. R. 70, l. 1 - 74, l. 4. Incredibly, Thompson claimed he could smell the five grams of packaged and concealed marijuana radiating from the open door of the hotel room when he met with Williams three doors down from the hotel room. R. 69, ll. 7-25.

When asked about his interrogation, Thompson explained that, "I believe Mr. Umphlett did ask us not to arrest her and I told him that if we found that she wasn't involved in it, that we would not" arrest Abdon. When pressed at the *Denno* hearing to explain exactly how he

convinced Appellant to admit ownership of the drugs and handguns found in the hotel room registered to Abdon, Thompson averred that:

What I'm saying is when we asked him for a statement, he provided the statement saying that everything was his. He asked us not to arrest her and **I told him that if we investigated and find that she's not involved in the drugs, then we wouldn't arrest her.**

R. 89, ll. 14-19. In addition to the five ounces of marijuana, police recovered one hundred ninety three grams of methamphetamine from the hotel room. R. 596 - 601.

Like Williams' earlier inconsistent statements regarding his apparent pre-*Miranda* questioning of Appellant, Thompson was helpfully reminded by the solicitor that, contrary to his earlier testimony, he only promised to not arrest Abdon if Appellant took ownership of the drugs and handguns **after** Appellant wrote his statement assuming ownership of the drugs and handguns. R. 102, l. 3 - 103, l. 1.

First Written Waiver of *Miranda* Rights and Undocumented Police Interrogation

Following his arrest, Appellant was taken to the Summerville Police Station. At two thirty the next afternoon while awaiting a bond hearing, Appellant purportedly offered to contact his supplier. R. 83, l. 14 - 85, l. 1. Appellant then made a phone call to his supplier in Georgia. R. 93, l. 3 - 100, l. 21. After the telephone call Appellant was provided with his first written *Miranda* waiver and signed it. *Id.* He was then interrogated for an unknown length of time. *Id.*

There were no written reports or records of Appellant's statements to police immediately before or after the written waiver. *Id.* At the pre-trial *Denno* hearing, Thompson refused to elaborate on what Appellant had told law enforcement beyond repeatedly stating that the call to the supplier and related interrogation "didn't go anywhere." *Id.*

## **Appellant's Trial**

### Pre-trial Jackson v. Denno Hearing

Appellant moved pre-trial to suppress his written and verbal statements to law enforcement arguing that Officer Williams employed a question first, *Mirandize* later technique immediately after conducting an unlawful warrantless search of the hotel room. R. 104, l. 2 - 107, l. 23.

With respect to Appellant's later written and verbal statements, defense counsel argued that Thompson had expressly promised Appellant that Abdon would not be arrested if he took ownership of the drugs and handguns. R. 105, ll. 6-22. Defense counsel noted that Appellant's statement mirrored almost perfectly the "magic words" that Thompson advised Appellant that he needed to say in order for Thompson to refrain from arresting Abdon. *Id.*; R. 602 - 603.

The State countered that Appellant had been *Mirandized* three times, twice verbally and once in writing some twelve hours after arrest. R. 106, l. 6 - 107, l. 7. The State also stressed that Williams recanted during re-direct examination and denied that he had failed to *Mirandized* Appellant before interrogating him. *Id.* Likewise, Thompson had been reminded by the solicitor that, despite earlier testimony to the contrary, he had actually only promised not arrest Abdon after Appellant had already made statements claiming ownership of the drugs and guns. *Id.*

The trial court ruled all of Appellant's statements were admissible, "[b]ased upon the totality of the circumstances, I do not find that there was any coercive police activity." R. 109, ll. 4-24. The court dismissed defense counsel's arguments regarding Thompson's threats to arrest Abdon, finding that the promise not to arrest Abdon was not actually a promise or threat, but simply an explanation by law enforcement that, **if Appellant took ownership of the drugs, they would not arrest his girlfriend, Abdon.** R. 109, l. 12 - 110, l. 10. Thus, if he did not claim the drugs and handguns, Abdon would be arrested.

### Pre-trial Suppression Hearing

Based on the testimony at the *Denno* hearing, defense counsel next moved to suppress the evidence seized during the execution of the search warrant arguing that Officer Henderson testified that he and Williams only smelled the five ounces of marijuana once they were inside the hotel room. R. 112, ll. 12-25. Furthermore, the warrantless search of the hotel room was unlawful as both Appellant and Abdon had denied consent and no exception to the warrant requirement applied. *Id.*

Detective Strickland was called by the State and testified that he was simply wrote down what Officer Henderson told him when drafting the warrant affidavit. R. 116, l. 5 - 129, l. 17. He conceded that the affidavit did not inform the municipal judge that the children were not present in the hotel room nor did it state that the police had already searched the hotel room when they applied for the warrant. *Id.*

The trial court refused to suppress the evidence seized as a result of the search warrant. R. 145, l. 2 - 146, l. 17. In denying the defense's motion, the court specifically noted that searches conducted pursuant to child welfare checks were distinguishable from searches conducted in order to discover evidence of a crime. R. 145, l. 15 - 146, l. 11.

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

**The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence seized during the execution of the search warrant for the hotel room that Appellant was staying in because the search warrant and resulting evidence was the fruit of the poisonous tree of law enforcements' prior unlawful, warrantless search of the hotel room not falling within any of the narrow exceptions to the warrant requirement.**

Law enforcement searched Appellant and Abdon's hotel room despite not having a warrant or consent. R. 221, l. 8 - 224, ll. 9-25. The police claimed that they conducted the search to insure that Abdon's children were not in the room. *Id.* However, a request for a child welfare check does not empower police to conduct a warrantless search without some evidence of an emergency.

Moreover, it absolutely does not empower police to use the pre-text of a child welfare check to, over the objections of a hotel room's occupants, conduct a warrantless search for evidence of a crime. Accordingly, the trial court erred in refusing to suppress evidence seized in the execution of the search warrant for the hotel room where material facts law enforcement relied upon when seeking the search warrant were discovered only as a result of their unlawful, warrantless search.

#### **Warrantless Searches are Presumptively Unreasonable**

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, made applicable to the States by way of the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures: "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated[.]" U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV., *see Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684 (1961). The South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures and "unreasonable invasions of privacy". *See State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001) (citing S.C. CONST. ART. I. § 10).

The United States Supreme Court has observed time and time again that "searches and

seizures ‘conducted outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment – subject only to a few specifically established and well delineated exceptions.’” *Minnesota v. Dickerson*, 508 U.S. 366, 372, 113 S.Ct. 2130, 2135 (1993) (emphasis in original) (internal citations omitted).

The burden is on the State to justify a warrantless search or seizure based upon one of these recognized exceptions. *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443, 455, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 2032 (1971). More specifically, the burden is on the State to justify a warrantless search or seizure, and the recognized exceptions have included: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest; (2) “hot pursuit;” (3) “stop and frisk;” (4) “automobile exception;” (5) the “plain view” doctrine; and (6) consent. *Id.*

### **Emergency Exception to the Warrant Requirement**

Another exception recognized by courts to excuse a warrantless search is the “emergency doctrine.” See *United States v. Moss*, 963 F.2d 673, 678 (4th Cir. 1992); *see also Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 392, 98 S.Ct. 2408 (1978) (finding that “the need to protect or preserve life or avoid serious injury” may justify a warrantless search of a home). “To invoke this so-called ‘emergency doctrine,’ the person making entry must have had an **objectively reasonable belief that an emergency existed that required immediate entry to render assistance or prevent harm** to persons or property within.” *Moss*, 963 F.2d at 678 (*emphasis added*).

A warrantless search of a home may be conducted when the “exigencies of the situation make **the needs of law enforcement so compelling that the warrantless search is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment.**” *Mincey*, 437 U.S. at 393–94, 98 S.Ct. at 2408 (*emphasis added*). Exigent circumstances arise where “law enforcement officers confront a compelling necessity for immediate action that would not brook the delay of obtaining a warrant.”

*United States v. Wiggins*, 192 F.Supp.2d 493, 498 (E.D.Va.2002) (quoting *United States v. Tibolt*, 72 F.3d 965, 969 (1st Cir.1995)).

The government bears the burden of demonstrating the existence of exigent circumstances to overcome the presumption of unreasonableness. *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 750, 104 S.Ct. 2091 (1984). The Fourth Circuit has emphasized that this “emergency exigency” exception to the warrant requirement justifies “immediate entry as an incident to the service and protective functions of the police as opposed to, or as a complement to, their law enforcement functions.” *Moss*, 963 F.2d at 678. Courts must also analyze an officer's decision in light of the objective evidence to make sure that it is in fact reasonable.

#### **Community Caretaker Exception to the Warrant Requirement**

Similar to the emergency doctrine, the “community caretaker” exception to the warrant requirement allows officers who are serving as “community caretakers,” protecting the safety of persons or property, to make warrantless searches. *See Phillips v. Peddle*, 7 Fed.Appx. 175, 178 (4th Cir.2001). This doctrine has an important limitation.

The Supreme Court has described “community caretaking functions” as those which are **“totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute.”** *Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433, 441, 93 S.Ct. 2523 (1973) (*emphasis added*). In *United States v. Gwinn*, when recognizing a kind of community care-taking exception, the Fourth Circuit emphasized that an essential premise of its holding “is the fact that nothing in the record suggests that [the officer's] reason for the reentry was pretextual or that he acted in bad faith.” 219 F.3d 326, 335 (4th Cir.2000) (finding that officer's reentry into suspect's home to obtain suspect's shoes and shirt was not a Fourth Amendment violation).

Our state Supreme Court has held that an analogous “spécial needs” exception to the warrant requirement exists where the object of the search is not to discover evidence of a crime, but rather to advance some compelling state interest. *State v. Houey*, 375 S.C. 106, 651 S.E.2d 314 (2007).

In *Houey*, the state secured a court order requiring the defendant to submit to a HIV and STD test pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-740(B), which allows the solicitor to obtain court ordered testing of an individual charged with an offense involving sexual penetration provided that there is “probable cause that during the commission of the criminal offense there was a risk that body fluids were transmitted from one person to another.” *Id.* at 109-110, 651 S.E.2d at 315-316.

The defendant argued, among other grounds, that the State was required to establish probable cause that he was infected with a disease before ordering testing. *Id.* The Court disagreed, holding that “the special needs exception allows a search unsupported by probable cause when special needs, beyond the normal need for law enforcement, make the warrant and probable cause requirements of the Fourth Amendment impracticable.” *Id.* at 111, 651 S.E.2d at 316-317.

In special needs cases the object of the search cannot be to discover evidence to be used at a criminal trial and the State’s need has to be balanced against the privacy interests being invaded. The State’s need must outweigh the individual’s privacy interest. *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

### **Suppression of Improperly Seized Evidence**

The United States Supreme Court has emphasized its concern with warrantless searches and seizures:

**“The point of the Fourth Amendment, which often is **not grasped by zealous officers**, is not that it denies law enforcement the support of the usual inferences which reasonable men draw from evidence. **Its protection consists in requiring that those inferences be drawn by a neutral and detached magistrate instead of being judged by the officer engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime.**”**

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