ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Berkeley County  
Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-002121

OCT 24 2016

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Joseph Umphlett,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley County

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not err in refusing to suppress the evidence seized during the execution of a search warrant obtained after the officers conducted a child welfare check and smelled marijuana immediately upon Appellant's opening the door to the hotel room. Further, the issue is not preserved for review on appeal because the drugs and other items were admitted without objection.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in refusing to suppress the evidence seized upon the execution of the search warrant obtained for the hotel room. He maintains the search warrant and evidence seized was the fruit of the poisonous tree because law enforcement conducted a prior unlawful, warrantless search of the room. First, the issue is not preserved because the evidence was admitted without objection. Additionally, the trial court properly refused to suppress the evidence because the search warrant was properly obtained after the officers conducted a child welfare check and smelled marijuana immediately upon Appellant's opening the door to the hotel room.

### **Preservation**

Initially, the issue regarding admission of the drugs is not preserved because Appellant did not object at the time of the admission of the evidence he sought to suppress during the pre-trial *in limine* hearing. The drug analyst reports as well as the drugs themselves were admitted without objection. (T.773; R. 544). "Generally, a motion *in limine* is not a final determination; a contemporaneous objection must be made when the evidence is introduced." State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009). Accordingly, the issue is not preserved for review.

Further, Appellant has waived any objection he had to the admissibility of the evidence. When the State sought to admit both the marijuana and the methamphetamine seized, as well as the drug reports resulting from the seizure, Appellant's counsel specifically indicated: "Without

any objection.” (T.764; 773; R. 539; 544). This acted as an express waiver of all previous objections. As a result, any prior objection to the admissibility of the evidence seized based on the search warrant being invalid was waived. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua’s sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion *in limine* to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua’s counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”).

Additionally, the only objection to the firearms admission was based on the failure to present a chain of custody for the firearms and not based on anything related to the validity of the search warrant. (T.573-579; 595-596; 598; R. 420-426; 431-432; 434). A party cannot raise one issue at trial and another issue on appeal. As a result any objection to the admissibility of the firearms based on the search warrant is waived and the issue is not preserved for review on appeal. See e.g., State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (“For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.”); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

### **Merits**

On the merits, the trial court did not err in refusing to suppress the evidence seized because the officers obtained a valid warrant which was not the fruit of the poisonous tree based

on an unlawful, warrantless search. The officers' actions in entering the hotel room upon the smell of marijuana and to complete the child welfare check were entirely reasonable and were not unlawful, warrantless searches of the hotel room.

A trial court's Fourth Amendment suppression ruling must be affirmed if supported by any evidence, and an appellate court may reverse only when there is clear error. State v. Taylor, 401 S.C. 104, 108, 736 S.E.2d 663, 665 (2013); see also, State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 349, 592 S.E.2d 344, 347 (Ct. App. 2004) ("On appeal from a suppression hearing, this court is bound by the circuit court's factual findings if any evidence supports the findings."). The appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009).

It is the "basic rule that 'searches conducted outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.'" Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 338 (2009) (quoting Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967)). However, because the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is "reasonableness," the warrant requirement is subject to certain exceptions. State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 210, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009). South Carolina courts have recognized several exceptions to the warrant requirement, including: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest; (2) "hot pursuit"; (3) stop and frisk; (4) the automobile exception; (5) the "plain view" doctrine; and (6) consent. State v. Bailey, 276 S.C. 32, 36, 274 S.E.2d 913, 915 (1981). Additionally, exigent circumstances can justify a warrantless search of a home which would otherwise be unreasonable. Herring, 387 S.C. at 209, 692 S.E.2d at 494.

First, officers are allowed to attempt contact with an individual at a hotel room, or any residence, for the purpose of conducting a welfare check. This Court recently upheld the validity of law enforcement conducting a welfare check. See State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 174 n.7, 776 S.E.2d 59, 71 n.7 (2015) (“In the instance of a ‘welfare check,’ the implicit license to approach a home as referenced in Florida v. Jardines, — U.S. —, 133 S.Ct. 1409, 185 L.Ed.2d 495 (2013) is applicable.”).

Once Appellant opened the door, officers immediately smelled marijuana. (T.53; 83; 106; R. 16; 46; 69). The smell of marijuana provided the requisite probable cause to obtain the search warrant in this case. See State v. Lane, 271 S.C. 68, 72, 245 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1978) (“From the record it is evident that **the odor emanating from the packages alone was a sufficient basis to establish probable cause** as to their contents when it is considered that an officer of the law, familiar with the odor of marijuana, believed the odor being emitted was that of marijuana.” (emphasis added)); see also United States v. Humphries, 372 F.3d 653, 658 (4th Cir. 2004) (“We have repeatedly held that the odor of marijuana alone can provide probable cause to believe that marijuana is present in a particular place. . . . While smelling marijuana does not assure that marijuana is still present, the odor certainly provides probable cause to believe that it is. Thus, when marijuana is believed to be present in an automobile based on the odor emanating therefrom, we have found probable cause to search the automobile, and when the odor of marijuana emanates from an apartment, we have found that there is ‘almost certainly’ probable cause to search the apartment.”).

Furthermore, once the officers observed the smell of marijuana coming from the hotel room, the officers were justified under the circumstances in entering the hotel room, locating and detaining the occupants, and securing the premises to prevent the destruction of evidence and to

ensure there were no hidden threats to the officers' or the public's safety. See United States v. Cephas, 254 F.3d 488, 496 (4th Cir. 2001) (ruling an officer's warrantless entry into an apartment was justified by exigent circumstances, namely the prevention of the destruction of evidence, after he smelled the odor of marijuana coming from the apartment); United States v. Grissett, 925 F.2d 776, 778 (4th Cir. 1991) (finding exigent circumstances justified the warrantless entry of a motel room after officers smelled the odor of marijuana through the open motel room door).

In this case, there was the added exigency of verifying whether children were present in the hotel given the presence of children's clothing and toys indicating children may have been staying at the hotel. (T.123-124; 334; R. 86-87; 223). An "exigent circumstance" exists when "real immediate and serious consequence" could occur if the police delay their action in order to obtain a warrant. Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 751 (1984) (citations omitted). "The rationale underpinning the exigent circumstances doctrine is that when faced with an immediate and credible threat or danger, it is inherently reasonable to permit police to act without a warrant." United States v. Yengel, 711 F.3d 392, 396 (4th Cir. 2013). "One exigency obviating the requirement of a warrant is the need to assist persons who are seriously injured or threatened with such injury. 'The need to protect or preserve life or avoid serious injury is justification for what would be otherwise illegal absent an exigency or emergency.'" Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006) (citing Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 393-394 (1978)). As a result, the officers acted reasonable in entering the hotel room, detaining its occupants, and conducting a protective sweep of the room.

Even assuming for argument, the officers were not allowed to enter the premises to verify whether children were present or based on the smell of marijuana, the search warrant was still

validly obtained based on the probable cause established by the smell of marijuana and the search warrant did not rely on any information obtained from the entry of the officers into the hotel room. The case of State v. Lane is highly instructive. In Lane, law enforcement officers were notified by a deliveryman about two packages giving off a suspicious odor. Id., 271 S.C. at 70, 245 S.E.2d at 115. The officers recognized the odor coming from the packages as the odor of marijuana, opened one of the packages, and discovered marijuana inside. Id. The officers then resealed the opened package, left the packages with the deliveryman to be delivered as scheduled, and obtained a search warrant for the delivery location. Id. After the packages were delivered, the officers executed the search warrant and discovered marijuana in both packages. Id. at 70-71, 245 S.E.2d at 115. During trial, the marijuana recovered from the package opened without a warrant was ruled inadmissible because the trial judge determined the officers had neither a warrant nor exigent circumstances when they opened the package and discovered the marijuana inside. Id. at 71, 245 S.E.2d at 115. However, the trial judge admitted the other package into evidence because it was opened only after the warrant was obtained. Id. at 71, 245 S.E.2d at 115-116. Subsequently, Lane was convicted and appealed, arguing the search of the second package was the fruit of the warrantless and illegal search of the first package. Id. at 71, 245 S.E.2d at 116.

On appeal, the South Carolina Supreme Court in Lane noted the search of the second package would only have been unlawful if the search warrant relied upon in the search of this package was the product of the earlier unlawful search of the first package. Id. Based on the fact probable cause for the search warrant was established prior to the warrantless search, the Court found the search warrant was not the tainted product of the initial unlawful search, holding:

From the record it is evident that **the odor emanating from the packages alone was a sufficient basis to establish probable cause** as to their contents when it is considered that an officer of the law, familiar with the odor of marijuana, believed the odor being emitted was that of marijuana.

Id. at 72, 245 S.E.2d at 116 (emphasis added). Because the odor of marijuana alone established a probable cause basis for the issuance of the search warrant, the Court found there was an independent basis justifying the search and seizure of the package not related to the unlawful search of the other package. Id. The Court instructed:

While the knowledge of the contents of the first package increased the probability that marijuana was in the second package, the fact remains that prior probable cause existed independently of the knowledge subsequently gained from an opening of the first package. Probable cause having existed prior to the opening of the first package, the warrant cannot be deemed a product of the illegal search of package number one nor can the search and seizure of package number two pursuant to the warrant be deemed a product of the illegal search of package number one.

Id. Therefore, Lane's conviction was affirmed. Id. at 74, 245 S.E.2d at 117.

As in Lane, probable cause existed as soon as the officer smelled marijuana. The warrant in the instant case cannot be considered fruit of the poisonous tree even if the officers' entry into the hotel room were unlawful because the search warrant did not in any way rely on information obtained during the entry and was fully supported by probable cause based on the smell of marijuana. Therefore, like the warrant in Lane, the search warrant subsequently issued in Appellant's case was not the product of any illegal law enforcement action regardless of whether the officers' entry into the apartment was lawful or unlawful. See Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 443 (1984) ("The independent source doctrine allows admission of evidence that has been discovered by means wholly independent of any constitutional violation."); see also United States v. Dessesauere, 429 F.3d 359, 370 (1st Cir. 2005) (reversing the suppression of evidence seized during a search based on a search warrant where "[t]he facts gathered legally, without

resort to the facts gathered illegally, provided an independent and adequate source for the warrant application.”). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant’s motion to suppress evidence obtained as a result of the execution of the validly obtained search warrant.

**II. The trial court did not err in admitting Appellant's statements into evidence.**

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in admitting his statement regarding marijuana made to officers after they made entry into his hotel room and his statements, both oral and written, to Detective Thompson regarding ownership of the drugs and weapons found. He maintains the marijuana statement was given prior to required Miranda warnings being read. Next, he asserts the statements regarding ownership of the drugs and weapons were the result of police threats and were not voluntarily made. (See State's Exhibit 60, Defendant's Statement; R. 602). First, several of the arguments raised on appeal are not properly preserved for review by the Court. Additionally, any statement given regarding the marijuana was non-custodial and merely part of the investigation conducted by the officers. Even if in custody, the officers testified Officer Williams read Appellant his Miranda warnings shortly after they entered his hotel. Finally, the statements given regarding ownership of the drugs were not the result of police threats or coercion, but were properly found by the trial court to be knowing and voluntary.

**Preservation**

Initially, many of the contested statements were not objected to at trial, and therefore, any issues related to the statements are not preserved for review on appeal. Prior to trial, the trial court conducted a Jackson v. Denno<sup>2</sup> hearing to determine whether Appellant's statements were knowing and voluntary. At the hearing, Appellant never challenged the validity of the first statement regarding the presence of the marijuana, but instead focused on the remaining statements where Appellant claimed ownership of the drugs and items in the hotel room. As a result, he cannot now raise an issue regarding custodial interrogation. See State v. Haselden, 353

---

<sup>2</sup> Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964)

S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

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